IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1775

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DANIEL C. ATKINSON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DYANN W. BEATY Florida Bar No. 0866385 Assistant Attorney General 2002 N. Lois Ave. Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 801-0600 (813) 873-4771 (FAX) RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (305) 377-5655 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent here, Daniel Atkinson, is the respondent in a petition for civil commitment filed by the State of Florida, in Polk County, on June 8, 2000 (Petitioner/Atkinson App.3)¹. According to the petition, Mr. Atkinson suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care and treatment. An order finding probable cause to believe that Mr. Atkinson is a sexually violent predator was entered on June 8, 2000 (Petitioner's/Atkinson The underlying basis for the filing of the petition for App.4). civil commitment included a certification for determination of probable cause filed by the State Attorney of the Tenth Judicial Circuit (Respondent/State App. A). In that document, the State refers to a previous conviction in Polk County case Number DF86-5981A1-XX. Atkinson, entered into a negotiated plea agreement in that case, on March 11, 1987 wherein he agreed to enter a plea of nolo contendere to a lesser included offense, i.e., sexual battery with slight force, a felony of the second degree (Respondent/State App. B). On May 7, 1987, Mr. Atkinson was sentenced to a period of fifteen (15) years in prison (Respondent/State App. C).

¹Insofar as the record on appeal from the Second District is not due to be filed in this Court until October 29, 2001, and the briefing schedule set out by this Court requires that the State's initial brief be submitted on or before September 24, 2001, references to the appendices will be to the original appendices attached to the briefs submitted to the lower court.

In October, 1995 the petitioner was again incarcerated as a result of new offenses. Based on these charges, he was sentenced by the Circuit Court in Putnam County, Florida to sixty (60) months in prison (Petitioner/Atkinson App. 1). Mr. Atkinson was later resentenced, based on the Florida Supreme Court's decision in *Heggs* v. *State*, 759 so. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000). Accordingly, his sentence was reduced from the original sixty (60) months to a total of only twenty-one (21) months. The order states, in part:

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Motion to Correct Sentence be granted and the Defendant be resentenced to 21 months incarceration for Count I and II of Case Number 95-2041 to be served concurrently with the previous jail credit awarded nunc pro tunc to the date of the prior s e n t e n c i n g o r d e r . (Petitioner/Atkinson App. 1).

Atkinson was then scheduled for release on or about June 6, 2000 (Respondent/State App. D). Pursuant to Section 394.9135 Florida Statutes (1999) Mr. Atkinson was evaluated by Dr. Kevin Raymond June 7, 2000. Dr. Raymond concluded that Mr. Atkinson poses a "significant risk to sexually re-offend," and that "he does meet the criteria for civil commitment under the provisions of the Jimmy Ryce Act" (Respondent/State App. E, p.3). As noted above, a petition for civil commitment was filed on June 8, 2000, and a motion to dismiss the petition was filed by the petitioner on June 20, 2000 (Petitioner/Atkinson App. 7). In the motion to dismiss, Atkinson noted that his original sentence was imposed on September

25, 1996. Had he served every day of the later amended sentence he would have been released no later than June, 1998. Accordingly, Atkinson argued that he was not in legal custody on the effective date of the sexually violent predator's act, and therefore the act should not be applicable to him. On July 11, 2000 the state filed a response to the motion to dismiss (Respondent/State App. F), and on July 13, 2000 the lower court entered an order denying the motion to dismiss the petition (Respondent/State App. G).

On August 14, 2000, Atkinson filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the Second District Court of Appeal. The State served a response to Atkinson's petition on September 1, 2000. The Second District Court of Appeal issued its opinion holding that the applicability of Florida's Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predator's act is limited to those in lawful custody on the effective date of the statute. Therefore, because Atkinson's incarceration on January 1, 1999 was later determined to have been based on unconstitutional guidelines, and because his subsequent resentencing would have resulted in a release date prior to January 1, 1999, the lower court held that the act should not be applicable to Atkinson. In its order dated July 27, 2001, the Second District granted Atkinson's petition for writ of prohibition and certified the following question to raise an issue of great public importance:

> DOES THE JIMMY RYCE ACT APPLY TO PERSONS CONVICTED OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSES BEFORE

THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT WHO WERE NOT IN LAWFUL CUSTODY ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT?

An emergency motion to stay the entry of the mandate in this cause was filed in the Second District, by the State on August 9, 2001. The State's request was denied by the Second District on August 14, 2001, and the mandate issued on August 15, 2001. A further request to stay or recall the entry of the mandate was filed in this Court, by the State, on August 14, 2001. An objection to the State's emergency motion was filed by Atkinson on August 16, 2001. This Court entered an order denying the requested relief on August 20, 2001.

On August 9, 2001, the State filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. This Court's order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing schedule was entered on August 28, 2001.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida's Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predator's Act is designed to provide for the long-term care, control and treatment of those individuals who have been found to be suffering from a mental abnormality, or personality disorder which makes the person more likely to engage in acts of sexual violence in the future if not confined in a secure facility. By its plain language the statute is made applicable to anyone who was in custody on the effective date of the act, either January 1, 1999 or May 26, 1999. Atkinson was in the custody of the Department of Corrections on both of the pertinent dates. The fact that Atkinson's sentence was later reversed and then recalculated does not alter his need for long-term treatment, nor does it render him any less likely to commit a sexually violent act in the future. The legislature included no specific requirement that the requisite custody on the date of the statute's enactment, be found to be lawful at all times in the future. Instead, it is sufficient that the custody was presumed lawful on the specified dates, and there is no suggestion that a subsequent act of the legislature or the courts should be allowed to divest the state of the opportunity to go forward. The statute as it now appears, includes a provision allowing for the detention of an individual who is slated for immediate release, for any reason. Clearly, the legislature intended that the statute would apply to Atkinson, and it does just

that.

ARGUMENT

THE INVOLUNTARY CIVIL COMMITMENT OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS ACT, SECTION 394.910 ET SEQ., FLORIDA STATUTES (1999) APPLIES TO ATKINSON BECAUSE HIS CUSTODY, ALTHOUGH MODIFIED LATER, WAS LAWFUL ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT.

The Second District Court of Appeal has certified the following question to be of great public importance:

DOES THE JIMMY RYCE ACT APPLY TO PERSONS CONVICTED OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSES BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT WHO WERE NOT IN LAWFUL CUSTODY ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT?

However, the State would suggest that the question would better reflect the issues involved here if it were reworded as follows:

> DOES FLORIDA'S INVOLUNTARY CIVIL COMMITMENT OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS ACT APPLY TO PERSONS CONVICTED OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSES BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT WHOSE CUSTODY, ALTHOUGH PRESUMPTIVELY CORRECT ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT IS LATER DETERMINED TO HAVE BEEN IMPROPER?

The purpose of Florida's sexually violent predators involuntary civil commitment act is to seek the involuntary civil commitment of those who, by virtue of their current mental conditions, and current and future dangerousness, are in need of such commitment, both for the remedial protection of the general public, and for their own appropriate treatment. Section 394.910,

Florida Statutes (1999).² Under Florida's Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators act, the state must prove more than the simple fact of a conviction, and subsequent incarceration. In addition, there is also the requirement that the person be found to be currently suffering from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person more likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term treatment. Section 394.912(10)Fla. Stat. (1999). The Act is not simply incidental to the punishment already received by the individual who was originally incarcerated. The act is not punitive, nor should confinement under the act be considered Instead, confinement under the act is based on a punishment. person's current mental abnormality or personality disorder which renders them dangerous in that they are likely to commit a sexually violent act in the future if not confined for long-term care, control and treatment. Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997); Westerheide v. State, 767 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); See also Hubbart v. Superior Court, 19 Cal.4th 1138, 1143-1144 (Cal. 1999); In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of McCracken, WL 823686 (S.C. 2001); In re the Matter of Leon G., 26 P.3d 481 (Ariz. 2001).

²The sexually violent predators act initially became effective January 1, 1999. Laws of Florida, Chapter 98-64. Effective May 26, 1999, the act was both amended and moved from Chapter 916 to Chapter 394. Laws of Florida, Chapter 99-222; section 394.910, et seq., Florida Statutes (1999).

The act itself includes no time limits as to the filing of the petition for commitment. However, it is the individual's pending release from incarceration that triggers the evaluation, which may lead to the filing of a petition for commitment. Section 394.913 and 394.9135, Florida Statutes (1999). The act itself does not specify that any previous confinement must be "lawful" in order for the act to apply to a particular individual. Indeed, such a determination could be extremely difficult to make given the inability to predict future legislative and judicial changes effecting sentencing standards. Instead, the statute applies to all persons "currently in custody" at the time of the effective date. Section 394.925, Florida Statutes (2000).

The only consideration which is relevant at the time the petition is filed is whether the individual named in the petition qualifies as a sexually violent predator, in need of involuntary civil commitment. The term "sexually violent predator" is defined in section 394.912(10) Florida Statutes (2000), as a person who: "(a) Has been convicted of a sexually violent offense; and (b) Suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment." The Second District determined that the Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators Act should not apply to Atkinson because he does not meet the criteria set out in

section 916.45, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), see now section 394.925, Florida Statutes (2000). Atkinson argued that because he was resentenced, pursuant to the Florida Supreme Court's decision in *Heggs*, to a period of incarceration which would have resulted in his release prior to the original effective date of the act, that he does not fall within the definition of "currently in custody," as required by the statute. The Second District agreed. The State respectfully submits that this is an incorrect interpretation of the statute, and of the legislative intent behind it.

Section 394.925, in its current version, which became effective May 26, 1999 (see Chapter 99-222, Laws of Florida), provides:

> This part applies to all persons <u>currently in custody</u> who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense, as that term is defined in s. 394.912(9), as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future. (Emphasis supplied.)

The predecessor version of the statute, section 916.45, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), which was in effect from January 1, 1999 until May 26, 1999 (see Chapter 98-64, Laws of Florida), contained similar language:

> Sections 916.31-916.49 apply to all persons <u>currently in custody</u> who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense, as that term is defined in s. 916.32(8), as well as to all persons convicted of a

sexually violent offense in the future. (Emphasis supplied.)

Consistent with the plain meaning of either of those provisions, on May 26, 1999, the day that section 394.925 went into effect, Mr. Atkinson was "currently in custody." Likewise, on January 1, 1999, the day that section 916.45 went into effect, Mr. Atkinson was again "currently in custody." Neither of the statutory provisions contain any language suggesting that a later modification of the custody, which was proper on either January 1, 1999 or May 26, 1999, would effect the applicability of the act. No subsequent determination that custody was "unlawful," by virtue of a reversal of a criminal conviction or sentence, will negate the fact that the person was "currently in custody" on the operative date of the above-quoted statutory provisions.

One California case, confronted with a virtually identical situation under that state's sexually violent predators commitment act, has come to a conclusion which is consistent with the State's argument in this brief. In *Garcetti v. Superior Court*, 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d 724 (Cal. App. 1998), the State filed a commitment petition against Lyles. At the time of the filing of the commitment petition, Lyles was in the custody of the State Department of Corrections, having had his parole recently revoked. Lyles claimed that his custodial status with the Department of Corrections, at the time of the filing of the commitment petition, was unlawful because his parole had been revoked for unlawful

reasons. Thus, like Mr. Atkinson, he argued that his custody at the time of the filing of the petition was "unlawful."

At the time the petition was filed in *Garcetti*, California's sexually violent predator statute required only that the person be ". . in custody under the jurisdiction of the Department . . . and who is either serving a determinate prison sentence or whose parole has been revoked. . . ." *Garcetti*, 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 729, quoting Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code, section 6601(a). Thus, the California act specifically provided that it was applicable *only* to those currently in the custody of the state Department of Corrections.

Nevertheless, the California appellate court determined that the fact that a person might be detained unlawfully beyond the expiration of an incarcerative sentence did <u>not</u> deprive the State of the ability to file a commitment petition under the act:

> . . .it does not inevitably follow from the SVP Act's element of custody that a determination of lawful custody is a jurisdictional prerequisite to the filing of a petition under the SVP Act for civil The question here is commitment. whether the fact Lyles's custodial status stemmed from an improper revocation of parole immunizes him from a petition for commitment as a sexually violent predator....[T]he trial court erred in treating the improper revocation of parole as a jurisdictional defect barring the People's petition for commitment.

Id. at 729.

In reaching this conclusion, the court emphasized the act's

twin purposes of "public protection" and ensuring treatment to the dangerous mentally ill." 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 732. Those purposes "would not be advanced by treating the 'unlawful' revocation of parole as a jurisdictional barrier to a petition for commitment under the SVP Act." *Id.* The same reasoning can be applied in the instant case. *See also People v. Wakefield*, 81 Cal.App.4th 893, 898-899; *People v. Hedge*, 72 Cal.App.4th 1466, 1478-1479 (1999); *People v. Superior Court (Whitley)*, 68 Cal.App.4th 1383, 1389-1390 (1999).

The later California case of People v. Hubbart, 106 Cal. Rptr. 2d 490 (Cal.App. 2001), agreed with the analysis of the Garcetti court. In Hubbart, the California appellate Court determined that the California SVP statute imposed no explicit requirement that custody be lawful in order to allow for the filing of a petition for civil commitment as a sexually violent predator (SVP). Instead, the statute simply required that the person alleged to be an SVP must be "in custody under the jurisdiction of the Department of correction." Hubbart at 1229. (Citing California's Welfare and Institutions Code, section 6601(a)). Hubbart challenged the filing of the petition for commitment, because his incarceration, at that time, was based on a revocation of parole which was later determined to have been improper. Hubbart at 1228. In rejecting Hubbart's assertion, the appellate court found that the revocation of Hubbart's probation resulted from a mistake of law. The

Department of Corrections had relied on a regulation that was apparently valid, at the time, and there was no evidence of any negligence or intentional wrongdoing. *Hubbart* at 1229. See also People v. Dias, 170 Cal.App.3d 756 (1985). As a result, the Court in *Hubbart* found that at the time the petition for commitment was filed, Hubbart was in the custody of the Department of Corrections, as required under the statute.

In light of the analysis in *Garcetti* and *Hubbart*, and the language of the Florida statutory scheme itself, it is clear that no subsequent determination regarding the "lawful" or "unlawful" nature of the state's custody is relevant to a determination of whether the State has the right to file a commitment petition. The fact remains that Mr. Atkinson was in custody at the time the statute became effective, thereby causing him to become a member of a class of individuals who could potentially be considered for the designation sexually violent predator. *See Cuthrell v. Patuxent Institution*, 475 F.2d 1364 (4th Cir. 1973).

The fact that Mr. Atkinson's custody was later determined to have been based on calculations which have since been found unconstitutional, does not preclude the state's filing of a commitment petition. In fact, the provisions of the immediate release section 394.9135, Florida Statutes (1999), seem tailored to allow for this situation, by specifically authorizing the filing of the commitment petition if the release of a person becomes

immediate for any reason. Section 394.9135(3), Florida Statutes
(1999).

Atkinson, argued below that the statute should not be applicable to anyone who was not in "lawful" custody at the time of the statutes effective date, either May 26, 1999 or January 1, 1999. This argument attempts to expand the plain meaning of the statute to require that any individual who was "currently in custody" as of the statute's effective date, must be determined to have been in "lawful custody" at that time, based on a determination made at the time of the filing of the petition. The legislature intended no such reasoning to apply to a determination of whether an individual meets the criteria to be found to be a sexually violent predator.

The case of *State*, *ex rel. Wilson v. Culver*, 110 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1959) is instructional here. In that case, the defendant filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this court stating that his confinement, pursuant to a conviction for escape, was improper. *Id*. This court previously determined that any indictment or information charging an escape must reflect the legality of the custody at the time the escape was committed and the nature of the confinement under which the individual is being held. *Melton v. Culver*, 107 So. 2d 378, 380 (Fla. 1958). After acknowledging the "legality of the custody" requirement as stated in *Melton*, this Court denied Wilson's petition for writ of habeas corpus, and

stated:

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