### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Petitioner,

vs. : Case No. SC01-1775

DANIEL C. ATKINSON, :

Respondent. :

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

### AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

HOWARD L. DIMMIG II Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0225491

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

# TOPICAL

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the substance of the statement of the case and facts contained within the Brief of Petitioner on the Merits. However, one relevant date was omitted. With the addition of the following relevant date, respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

On May 25, 2000, the Circuit Court of Putnam County resentenced respondent to a total of twenty-one (21) months incarceration. Said sentence was ordered to be nunc pro tunc to September 25, 1996.

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Two facts are dispositive of the issues presented in this case. Respondent was unlawfully in custody at the time Florida's Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators Act came into effect. This illegality was not determined until after the Act became effective. However, respondent was also being held in custody without any pretense of legal authority at the time the civil commitment petition was filed. Because of the concurrence of both these facts, the Second District Court of Appeal had to read that portion of section 394.925, Florida Statutes, which sets forth the applicability of the Act to persons in custody at the time the Act became effective, as applying only to those persons lawfully in custody. To do otherwise would not only have resulted in unreasonable, harsh or absurd results in Atkinson's case but also in other cases.

### **ARGUMENT**

### **ISSUE**

THE INVOLUNTARY CIVIL COMMITMENT OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS ACT DOES NOT APPLY TO RESPONDENT BECAUSE HE WAS NOT LAWFULLY IN CUSTODY ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT.

Two primary facts exist in respondent's case which are critical to its resolution. Fact 1: Respondent was unlawfully in custody at the time Florida's Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators act became effective, albeit this fact was not determined until after the effective date of the Act. Fact 2: Respondent was in custody without any pretense of legal authority at the time the petition for involuntary civil commitment was filed in this case, and this fact was known at the time the commitment petition was filed. Keeping these two facts in mind, the provisions of Florida's Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators act must be examined to determine if the Act is applicable to respondent.

Part V of chapter 394, Florida Statutes, is the Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators Act (hereinafter referred to as the Act). When adopted, it was the stated intent of the legislature to "create a civil commitment procedure for the long-term care and treatment of sexually violent predators." However, the legislature did not make the Act applicable to all sexually violent predators.

The Act defines a sexually violent predator as any person

who:

(a) Has been convicted of a sexually violent offense;

and

(b) Suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.

Section 394.912(10), Florida Statutes (1999) (emphasis added). Instead of making the Act applicable to all persons who meet this definition of sexually violent predators, section 394.925 limits the applicability of the Act to "all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense,..., as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future." (emphasis added).

Therefore, instead of applying to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense, the Act applies only to those persons who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense and who also were either in custody on the day the Act became effective or were subsequently in custody as the result of being sentenced to total confinement.

In this case, no one contends that respondent was convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement subsequent to the effective date of the Act. Consequently, in deciding whether the Act is applicable to respondent, it must be

determined if respondent was "currently in custody on the effective date of the Act."

There is no dispute that respondent was in actual custody on the effective date of the Act. As noted earlier, the respondent was in custody, albeit unlawful custody, on both January 1, 1999 and May 26, 1999. The illegality of this custody was determined by Heggs v. State, 759 So.2d 620 (Fla. 2000), after the effective date of the Act. The illegality should have been rectified and respondent's custody should have ended when respondent was resentenced to a term of twenty-one (21) months incarceration on May 25, 2000, nunc pro tunc to September 25, 1996. However, this did not occur.

It was against this factual backdrop that the Second District Court of Appeal considered respondent's petition for writ of prohibition. Atkinson argued that the Act was not applicable to him because he was not in lawful custody on the effective date of the Act. The State contended that the legality of respondent's custody was irrelevant and that the Act applied to him because he was in actual custody on the effective date of the Act. Simply stated, respondent argued that the custody requirement of section 394.925 be read to require "lawful" custody. The State argued that the plain language of the section did not require that the custody be lawful. The Second District correct-

<sup>1</sup>Florida's Involuntary Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators act was initially enacted as Sections 916.31 - 916.49, Florida Statutes (1998) and became effective on January 1, 1999. The act was amended and renumbered as sections 394.910 - 394.929, Florida Statutes (1999) with an effective date of May 26, 1999. The limitation of the applicability of the act to "all persons currently in custody" was not altered when the act was amended and renumbered. The statutory interpretation of the phrase "all persons currently in custody" is, therefore, not affected whether the effective date of the Act is January 1, 1999 or May 26, 1999.

ly concluded that to read the Act without any regard to the law-fulness of custody would result in unreasonable, harsh, or absurd consequences. Instead, the Second District held, "that insofar as the Act applies to `all persons in custody,' it is limited to persons who were in lawful custody on its effective date."

Atkinson v. State, 731 So.2d 537 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

The State contends that the California case of *Garcetti v.*Superior Court, 80 Cal. Rptr.2d 724 (Cal. App. 1998) supports its position. Quite to the contrary, under *Garcetti* the civil commitment petition filed against respondent would have had to be dismissed.

Garcetti does indeed stand for the proposition that, under California law, a civil commitment petition can be filed against a person who is in actual custody even if that custody is later determined to be unlawful. However, the state of California in Garcetti acknowledged that, "[o]f course, if the custody [were] a complete sham without any pretense of legal authority, the [Department of Corrections] would not have `jurisdiction' in any legal sense. This case does not present such an extreme situation." Supra. at 726.

Respondent's case does present just such an extreme situation. When respondent was resentenced on May 25, 2000, he was entitled to an award of credit for all time served since September 25, 1996. Since more than twenty-one (21) months elapsed between September 25, 1996 and May 25, 2000, respondent should have been immediately released. Instead, he continued to be held

in the custody of the Department of Corrections until a petition for involuntary civil commitment was filed some 14 days later on June 8, 2000. This custodial detention from May 25, 2000 until June 8, 2000 was a complete sham without any pretense of legal authority.<sup>2</sup>

Applying the rule set forth in *Garcetti*, the civil commitment petition filed against respondent was properly dismissed.

The fact that respondent was in custody without any pretense of legal authority from May 25, 2000 until June 8, 2000, allowed the Second District to resolve the issues presented in respondent's case by interpreting only section 394.925, Florida Statutes (1999) and finding it to require that the custody requirement be read to mean lawful custody. However, if the respondent's custodial status had been different, if it had simply been unlawful but not without legal justification, and if, as suggested by the State, the legality of custody was irrelevant to the State's ability to commence involuntary commitment proceedings, then serious constitutional impairments to Florida's entire Act would have had to be addressed.

The State seeks to have this Court review this case without considering all the relevant facts. The rephrased certified question suggested by the State ignores the fact that respondent was being held without any legal authority at the time the involuntary commitment proceedings were commenced. The State suggests that the certified question read:

DOES FLORIDA'S INVOLUNTARY CIVIL COMMITMENT OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS ACT APPLY TO PERSONS CONVICTED OF SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSES BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT WHOSE CUSTODY, ALTHOUGH PRESUMPTIVELY CORRECT ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT IS LATER DETERMINED TO HAVE BEEN

IMPROPER?

According to the State's argument, this question should be answered in the affirmative. However, if the Act applies to a person in such a custodial situation, the entire Act must be examined to determine if it could be constitutionally applied to such a person.

Section 394.925, Florida Statutes (1999) provides that persons who had been convicted of a sexually violent offense and were in custody on the effective date of the Act are subject to the Act. It is not required that the person be in custody for the commission of a sexually violent offense. It is not required that the person be in the custody of the Department of Corrections. It is not required that the person be in custody pursuant to imposition of a sentence. Consequently, the Act would apply to a person who was convicted of a sexually violent offense at any time in their past who was in custody for any reason on January 1, 1999 or May 26, 1999. But, Section 394.925, Florida Statutes (1999) also provides that persons who had been convicted of sexually violent offenses but were not in custody on the effective date of the Act

<sup>2</sup>The State contends that respondent's resentencing had the effect of placing him in the category of persons subject to immediate release and that his evaluation as well as the filing of the commitment petition were handled accordingly. Section 394.915, Florida Statutes (1999) does provide for continuing custodial detention of a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense if their release from total confinement becomes immediate for any reason. However, this section provides that the person be immediately transferred from the Department of Corrections to the Department of Children and Family Services (DCF). It further provides that an evaluation by the multidisciplinary team to determine if the person meets the definition of a sexually violent predator must be completed and a written report submitted within 72 hours of transfer to DCF. The commitment petition must then be filed within 48 hours after receipt of the written report. None of these provisions of section 394.915 were complied with in respondent's case.

must be convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future before being subject to the Act. By way of example, someone convicted of a sexually violent offense fifty (50) years ago and placed on probation is subject to the Act if they were arrested and in custody for violation of a municipal ordinance on January 1, 1999. However, a person who was released from state prison on December 31, 1998 after having completed a sentence for a sexually violent offense would not be subject to commitment proceedings unless they are convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future. Applying an equal protection analysis, it is difficult to determine the rational distinction between these two classes of individuals, especially since the stated legislative findings and intent of the Act makes no distinction between persons currently in custody on the effective date of the Act and those sexually violent predators who were not in custody on that date.

There are also procedural problems with the Act. As the State notes, "the Act itself includes no time limits as to the filing of the petition for commitment." Brief of the Petitioner on the Merits at p.7. In fact, the State contends that a civil commitment petition can be filed against a person who is not in custody at the time of the petition. See, Brief of the Petitioner on the Merits at p.16.

If the language of the Act is to be given its plain meaning without statutory interpretation, as argued by the State, this contention would appear correct. It would therefore follow that the State could elect to pursue involuntary civil commitment of a person who was released from custody at any time after the effective date of the Act provided that the person had been previously convicted of a sexually violent offense and was in custody on the effective date of the Act.

While the State contends that the plain language of the Act provides the authority to pursue commitment in such a circumstance, there are no provisions in the Act setting forth procedures for non-custodial sexually violent offenders.

Civil commitment of sexually violent offender statutes from other states have withstood constitutional attack on equal protection and due process grounds. See, i.e., Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997). But it is the specific provisions of section 394.925 concerning the applicability of the Florida Act which distinguishes it from other states' statutes. Section 59-29a04, Kansas Statutes (2000) provides that the state may file a civil commitment petition against a "person presently confined." Similarly, section 6601(a)(2), California Welfare and Insti-tutions Code (2000), provides, "[A] petition may be filed under this section if the individual was in custody pursuant to his or her determinate prison term, parole revocation term, or hold placed pursuant to Section 6601.3, at the time the petition is filed."

The Second District Court of Appeal, considering the particular facts of respondent's case, and considering the differences between Florida's Act and those of other states, correctly concluded that the

<sup>3 394.910</sup> Legislative findings and intent.— The Legislature find that a small but extremely dangerous number of sexually violent predators exist who do not have a mental disease or defect that renders them appropriate for involuntary treatment under the Baker Act, part I of this chapter, which is intended to provide short-term treatment to individuals with serious mental disorders and then return them to the community. In contrast to person appropriate for civil commitment under the Baker Act, sexually violent predators generally have antisocial personality features which are unamenable to existing mental illness treatment modalities, and those features render them likely to engage in criminal, sexually violent behavior. The Legislature further finds that the likelihood of sexually violent predators engaging in repeat acts of predatory sexual violence is high. The existing involuntary commitment procedures under the Baker Act for the treatment and care of mentally ill persons are inadequate to address the risk these sexually violent predators pose to society. The Legislature further finds that the prognosis for rehabilitating sexually violent predators in a prison setting is poor, the treatment needs of this population in a prison setting is poor, the treatment needs of this population are very different from the traditional treatment modalities for people appropriate for commitment under the Baker Act. It is therefore the intent of the Legislature to create a civil commitment procedure for the long-term care and treatment of sexually violent predators.

portion of section 394.925 dealing with "all persons in custody" had to be read to limit the applicability of the Act to persons in "lawful custody" in order to prevent unreasonable, harsh, or absurd consequences.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, argument, and citations of authority, respondent respectfully requests that the certified question as rephrased by the State be rejected and that the certified question presented by the Second District Court of Appeal be answered in the affirmative.